1995

## Weaver v. Brite Music : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This appeal is brought pursuant to Rule 3 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, which provides in essential part that an appeal may be taken from a District Court to the Appellate Court from all final orders and judgements. Jurisdiction is based upon Utah Code Annotated, Section 78-2-2(j), 1953 as amended, which grants the Supreme Court appellate jurisdiction over appeals from judgments of any court of record for which the Court of Appeals does not have original appellate jurisdiction. Utah Code Annotated, Section 78-2a-3 does not grant the Court of Appeals original jurisdiction over this matter.

This case has been transferred to the Court of Appeals pursuant to Section 78-2-2(4).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

a. Whether the trial court erred in ruling that the provisions of the parties' contract regarding "carry-over points" as a matter of law and within the four corners of the agreement, was clear and unambiguous? (Preserved in Transcript for Motion for Directed Verdict p. 31; and in Memoranda supporting Appellants' post-trial motions R. 733-734, 773).

b. Whether the trial court erred in application of the standard for consideration of the Appellee's motion to dismiss the case at the end of the presentation of the Appellants' evidence in the jury trial of this matter? (Preserved in Transcript for Motion for Directed Verdict p. 17-18).

c. Whether the trial court erred in ruling that the provisions of the contract between the parties regarding "carry-over points" were not ambiguous? (Preserved in Transcript for Motion for Directed Verdict p. 31; and in Memoranda supporting Appellants' post-trial motions R. 730-731, 734).

d. Whether the trial court erred in construing the parties' contract as a matter of law and in not construing the parties contract against the Appellee, which was the scrivener of the contract? (Preserved in Transcript for Motion for Directed Verdict pp. 31, 50; and in Memoranda supporting Appellants' post-trial motions R. 730).

e. Whether the trial court erred in failing to interpret the "carry-over points" provision of the contract in a manner consistent with the eight year course of dealing between the



parties, and the representations and admissions of the Appellee's executive officers, including one of the principal founders of the Appellee, who was also the principal executive officer of the Appellee? (Preserved in Transcript for Motion for Directed Verdict p. 21).

f. Whether the principles of estoppel and waiver preclude the Appellee from now asserting that the Appellee also had the right to exercise the "carry-over points" redemption provision? (Preserved in Transcript for Motion for Directed Verdict p. 54; and in Appellants' post-trial motions R. 698).

#### Standard of Review on Appeal

In deciding a motion for a directed verdict, the Court must consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the Appellants, against whom the motion was directed, and must resolve every controverted fact in their favor. Boskovich v. Utah Constr. Co., 123 Utah 387, 259 P.2d 885 (1953).

A directed verdict is tantamount to granting a motion for a nonsuit. On appeal it must be reversed, if the evidence is such that reasonable men could arrive at a different conclusion. Rhiness v. Dainsie, 24 Utah 2d 375, 472 P.2d 428 (1970).

The Appellate Court should give no deference to the factual findings or legal conclusions of the trial court, but should review the facts and apply the proper legal standard de novo. Canfield v. Albertsons, 841 P.2d 1224 (Ut. App. 1992).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### Nature of the Case

This case is a claim made by the Appellants, Julie Weaver and Catherine Palmer for the breach of sales representative contracts which they had entered into with the Appellee, Brite Music Enterprises (Brite). Pursuant to the sales representative contracts, Julie Weaver and Cathy Palmer could derive various forms of compensation. One of the components of compensation allowed the accumulation of "points". Pursuant to the use of these points on monthly basis, the sales representative could maintain her commission at the highest possible level. The contract also provided that excess points ("carry-over points") could be accumulated for "as long as you [the sales representative] desire".

The contract provided that a sales representative could, in the alternative, cash in her carry-over points pursuant to a redemption provision available to the sales representative. This redemption right of the sales representative was used periodically over an eight year period of time.

In early 1991, Brite announced that it also had the right to exercise the redemption provision, and tendered checks for the relatively small redemption price to Weaver and Palmer. Brite then denied Weaver and Palmer the right to use their carry-over points as they had previously done, thereby causing Weaver and Palmer substantial monetary loss. The Appellants assert that the actions of Brite constitute a breach of their written agreement.

### Course of Proceedings

The original complaint of Julie Weaver and Catherine Palmer was filed on May 16, 1991 (R. 2-16). The matter was tried to a jury on December 6-8, 1994.

At the conclusion of the presentation of the case in chief of Weaver and Palmer, Brite moved for a directed verdict (see Transcript of Motion for Directed Verdict p. 5). Upon the conclusion of the argument of the motion, the trial court found that there was no breach of the sales representative contract and the motion of Brite was granted (Transcript of Motion for Directed Verdict p. 60).

On January 27, 1995, the trial court entered its Final Order of Dismissal (R. 687 and Exhibit D attached hereto). Such order stated that the trial court found the contract provision to be unambiguous. Further that trial court found that Brite also had the right to exercise the carry-over redemption provision. In such case, the trial court concluded that Brite had not breached its agreement with Julie Weaver and Catherine Palmer.

Post-trial motions were briefed to the trial court and oral argument on the motions was conducted on April 24, 1995 (R. 795). An Order Denying Plaintiffs' Post-Trial Motions was entered on May 1, 1995 (R. 795-796), and this appeal followed.

### Facts

In the decade of the eighties, the Appellants, Julie Weaver ("Weaver") and Catherine Palmer ("Palmer") were two of the most successful independent sales representatives (Palmer p. 55, 66;

Brady pp. 38, 33, 53; Vassel pp. 60)<sup>1</sup> of the Appellee, Brite Music Enterprises, Inc. ("Brite"). Brite is engaged in the development and marketing of music products, including music tapes and books. Weaver and Palmer are both residents of Davis County and were actively involved in developing sales organizations pursuant to the Brite marketing program. Weaver became a sales representative in 1980 and Palmer became a sales representative in 1982. The trial court found that a contractual relationship did exist between the parties based upon the 1982 marketing program (the "Program") implemented by Brite (see Final Order of Dismissal, January 27, 1995, paragraph 1; R. 687 and Exhibit D attached hereto).

The Program provided that the sales representatives would receive compensation based upon the sales volume of the representative, and of the sales organization or "down-line" of the sales representative. The second key component of the Program provided that a sales representative could accumulate "points" from various sources identified in the Program.

The principal source for the accumulation of points was the sales volume of the sales organization of a representative. The accumulated points were applied to a graduated point level of 300, 600, 900 or 1200 points. The point level at which a representative conducted business for a month determined the percentage for the computation of the compensation of a sales representative (i.e., at

---

<sup>1</sup> Reference to the trial record is designated by the letter R and the page number of the referenced material in the record; e.g. (R. 687). Reference to testimony given at trial is made by designating the surname of the witness and the page in the transcript of the testimony of the witness; e.g. (Palmer p. 28).

the 1200 point level, the percentage of the sales commissions earned by the sales representative would be greater than at lower point levels) (Palmer p. 26, lines 9-13).

The third component of the compensation structure of the Program was that a sales representative could earn more points in a month than were required to achieve a particular compensation level. These excess points could be accumulated for use in future months (Palmer p. 27, Brady p. 17). These accumulated points are referred to in the Program as "carry-over points."

The critical aspect of the contractual relationship of the parties, and of this case, hinges on the fact that the carry-over points could be applied to satisfy the requirements of achieving a certain compensation level in a month when the sales representative did not earn the requisite points during the month. For example, it would be possible for a sales representative who had accumulated sufficient points, to wholly cease personal sales operations for several months, and yet be entitled to receive compensation at the highest point level from the sales made by her sales organization or down-line (Palmer p. 27 lines 10-16, Vassel p. 21).

The trial court found that "the relevant provision of the 1982 marketing Program concerning "carry-over points" provided<sup>2</sup>:

As you continue to exceed 1200 points per month, the increasing carry-over points may accumulate for as long as you desire; however, each increment of 5,000 carry-over points is redeemable for a check from Brite for \$100. Redeeming points in this manner does not affect your life-time point accumulation or the benefits you may eventually derive therefrom." (emphasis added by Appellants)

The forgoing contractual provision provided both for the accumulation of carry-over points and for a cash redemption right by the sales representative. The last sentence of this paragraph, although also directed to the sales representative (and therefore helpful to the construction of the paragraph), relates to other benefits and rewards based on a lifetime accumulation of points (Brady p. 31, lines 6-14). Though this other reward program is not central to the matter now before the Court, this final sentence completes the thought of the entire paragraph which describes only rights of the sales representatives. The paragraph, by its terms, grants no rights to Brite, but only the obligation to accumulate the points or pay the redemption price, if the redemption option is exercised by the sales representative.

The factual issue before the Court of Appeals is whether or not both contracting parties had the right to exercise the cash redemption provision, or whether the redemption right was solely that of the sales representative. The legal issue for

---

<sup>2</sup> See final Order of Dismissal, January 27, 1995, paragraph 1, R. 687, and Exhibit D attached hereto. See also, Palmer p. 31, lines 9-15.

determination by the Court of Appeals is whether the trial court erred in failing to submit this factual issue to the jury, by resolving this issue as a matter of law on Brite's motion for a directed verdict at the end of the plaintiffs' case.

The evidence produced at the time of the trial of this case indicated that, at the end of calendar year 1986, Weaver had accumulated 51,568.84 carry-over points and that Palmer had accumulate 79,099.68 carry-over points at the end of calendar year 1987 (Trial Exhibits P-29 and P-57 ;see Exhibits A and B attached hereto; Palmer p. 72, lines 18-20).

Early in her experience with Brite, Palmer had exercised the cash redemption provision. At trial, however, she confessed that a management employee at Brite had pointed out to her that the right to use the carry-over points to maintain the highest point level of compensation was at her option, as a sales representative (Palmer p. 32). The Brite manager noted that it was foolish for her to redeem 5,000 carry-over points for a mere \$100 under the cash redemption provision of the contract when it would have considerably greater value when used to maintain the highest commission level for more than four months. When she realized the full import of her error, Cathy Palmer stated (Palmer p. 33, lines 19-23):

My gosh, 15,000 points I have cashed in for \$300. That is one full year of retirement, one full year of retirement, of bonuses on my management, on my down-line organization which could have been worth 10-\$15,000 to me.

The reference to "a full year of retirement" relates to the representations made by Brite owners and management during the years from 1982 to 1990 regarding the uses of the carry-over points. Ted Brady, the president and a founder of the Appellee corporation, had instructed the sales representatives of the company that they could use their carry-over points during periods of personal sales inactivity as a result of sickness (Brady p. 18, 19), pregnancy (Brady p. 18) or church missionary service (Brady p. 19).

Although Mr. Brady failed to acknowledge that he had also said that the carry-over points could be used for retirement (Brady p. 18, lines 14-18), Mr. Vassel, the executive vice president of Brite, said that he had explained the marketing program to groups of 50 to 200 sales representatives at a time in sales meetings throughout the United States. In these meetings he and others had specifically taught that the carry-over points could be used for retirement (Vassel pp. 19-22). This fact was confirmed by other witnesses, including Cathy Palmer (Palmer p. 36). Both Cathy Palmer and Mr. Vassel testified that the use of carry-over points for retirement purposes was personally explained to them by Mr. Brady (Palmer p. 36, lines 18-25; Vassel p. 22, lines 9-13).

Contrary to every notion ever presented to the sales representatives by Brite, its owners and its executive officers, both past and present (Palmer p. 86, lines 9-12), if Brite could exercise the right to redeem the carry-over points, the whole concept of pregnancy leave, sick leave, missionary finances and



retirement would be a virtual nullity. For the sum of \$300 Brite could gobble up an entire year of retirement, and for one or two thousand dollars Brite could destroy a decade or a lifetime of work. In Cathy Palmer's case, Brite sought to eliminate 39 months of carry-over points at the highest compensation level (1,200 points a month) for only \$900 (Palmer pp. 85-86). These were the points accumulated by arguably Brite's most recognized sales person over an eight year period of intensive work.

Beginning as early as 1987, Weaver and Palmer began to use their carry-over points in the manner for which they were actually intended, that is; to maintain the highest point and compensation level, while devoting less time to personal sales activity (Palmer p. 84, lines 12-24). This was a well recognized practice for the years 1987 through 1990. Brite honored the proper use of carry-over points for Palmer in the amount of 27,070.33 points (Palmer p. 73, pp. 84-85). Over a four year period beginning in 1986, Brite honored the proper use of carry-over points by Weaver in the amount of 34,268.09 points (Trial Exhibit P-57 and Exhibit B attached hereto).

Beginning in 1982, with the adoption of the carry-over point component of the Program, until the end of 1990, the parties established a clear course of dealing between Brite and its sales representatives with regard to the meaning of the cited contractual provision. During this eight year period of time, only sales representatives exercised the redemption provision for cash (Palmer p. 86, p. 90, lines 2-3; Brady p. 58; lines 14-18). Those points

that were not redeemed for cash, at the election of the sales representatives, were used to maintain the point and compensation level which offered the sales representative the highest monthly remuneration.

Ted Brady, the principal executive and one of the two principal founders of Brite, explained the marketing program to Weaver and Palmer. He was also present when other executive employees of Brite were both trained and then conducted seminars to recruit and encourage new sales representatives (Vassel p. 22). Each training session and each promotional seminar was devoid of any reference to the notion that Brite also had a right to exercise the cash redemption provision of the sales representative contract (Brady p. 29, lines 17-20; Vassel p. 39; Palmer p. 86, lines 9-15).

Weaver and Palmer, as two of the most successful sales representatives in the history of the company, were engaged extensively in the recruitment process and were major presenters at promotional seminars (Palmer p. 59, lines 23-25). Brite portrayed Julie Weaver as the archetypical successful sales representative and made a recruiting video featuring her (Vassel p. 20). Weaver and Palmer also sat on the executive board of Brite (Palmer p. 39, line 9). Their only instruction, throughout this entire period of eight years, was that it was solely the right of the sales representative to accumulate and use the carry-over points, or exercise the cash redemption provision.

At the end of calendar year 1990, ostensibly for reasons of a downturn in the business of Brite, Mr. Brady announced that Brite

was going to redeem all outstanding carry-over points at the rate of \$100 for each 5,000 points accumulated. Not only was the carry-over point component eliminated for the period after the announced program change, but the carry-over points were eliminated retroactively (Palmer p. 74, lined 18-25).

Brite tendered checks to the sales representatives, asserting that Brite had the right to exercise the carry-over point redemption provision. This announcement by the president of the corporation was the first time that anyone had ever asserted that Brite had the right to exercise the cash redemption provision. The draconian elimination of all accumulated carry-over points, and the elimination of the carry-over point concept entirely from the Program, shocked the entire independent sales representative network of the company, caused substantial monetary damages to Weaver and Palmer, and essentially destroyed the independent representative marketing structure of the company (Palmer p. 103).

There was no testimony given at the time of the trial that (a) Brite had the right to redeem the carry-over points, or (b) that both the sales representatives and Brite had the right to redeem the carry-over points. Appellee relied solely on the argument of counsel and the legal construction of the carry-over point provision of the contract, as a matter of law, without any other factual support.

Although Brite was the sole scrivener of the document (Brady p. 10, lines 8-16), the trial court found "that the foregoing marketing program language is unambiguous and that the

use of the term "However" at the beginning of the second sentence thereof acts as a qualification to the accumulation provision contained in the first sentence. Thus, the ability of the plaintiffs [Weaver and Palmer] to continue accumulating carry-over points indefinitely is limited by the redemption wording in the second sentence" (see paragraph 2 of the January 27, 1995 Final Order of Dismissal; Exhibit D attached).

Upon a motion for directed verdict at the end of the Appellants' case, the trial court ruled, as a matter of law, that Brite also had the right to exercise the cash redemption provision of the cited contractual language.

#### Summary of Arguments

1. On appeal from a directed verdict, the Appeals Court must examine the evidence in the light most favorable to the Appellants. If there is a reasonable basis in the evidence and in the inferences to be drawn therefrom that would support a judgment in favor of the Appellants, the directed verdict cannot be sustained.

2. It is fundamental that doubtful language in the contract should be interpreted against Brite, who was the party that selected the language and drafted the document.

3. If the interpretation of the doubtful language of a contract is to be determined as a matter of law by the words in the agreement, a cardinal rule in construing such a contract is to give effect to the intentions of the parties. Such contract should be interpreted so as to harmonize all of its provisions and all of its

terms, and all of its terms should be given effect if it is possible.

4. The doubtful language of the contract between the parties is ambiguous. The factual issues presented by the parol evidence admitted in this matter must be submitted to the jury and not determined as a matter of law.

5. The doubtful language of the contract between the parties is to be interpreted in a manner consistent with the eight year course of dealing between the parties. This course of dealing establishes the fact that only the Appellant sales representatives had the right to exercise the carry-over redemption provision of the contract. Such factual matters are to be presented to the jury and not determined as a matter of law.

6. Brite has waived its right to claim, and is now estopped from asserting, that it also has a right to exercise the carryover point redemption provision.

#### Argument

##### POINT I

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