1995

## Weaver v. Brite Music : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

3. Plaintiffs' arguments that the marketing plan should be construed against Brite and that the course of dealing between the parties should be utilized to interpret the provision are both misplaced. Such rules of construction are only applicable

if a finding of ambiguity has first been made. In this case, the court specifically found the language to be unambiguous. Therefore, such rules of construction need not be resorted to.

4. Plaintiffs did not allege or pursue the theories of waiver and estoppel before the trial court and are therefore precluded from doing so now. In fact, the trial court on at least two occasions raised these matters and plaintiffs either ignored the trial court's inquiry or attempted to justify their failure to earlier address such issues.

### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

#### **THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY CONCLUDED THAT PLAINTIFFS FAILED TO MEET THEIR BURDEN OF PROOF IN ESTABLISHING THAT DEFENDANT BREACHED THE CONTRACT**

Plaintiffs sued Brite Music contending that Brite's 1991 redemption of plaintiffs' carry-over points breached the contractual agreement between them. It is, thus, incumbent upon plaintiffs to establish and prove each of the elements of their claimed breach of contract. This they have not done.

As noted in the Statement of Facts above, the facts established by plaintiffs at trial consisted of the following:

- a) Plaintiffs were both sales representatives for Brite.
- b) Plaintiffs sold products under Brite's 1982 Marketing Program which contained a provision for accumulating carry-over points as well as a concurrent feature for redemption thereof.

- c) Brite redeemed plaintiffs' carry-over points in strict compliance with the redemption formula set forth in the marketing program.
- d) Nothing in the redemption provision or the marketing program in any way prohibited Brite from exercising the redemption option.

None of these facts was opposed by Brite. Thus, the trial court had no material facts in dispute. The relationship between the parties was defined. The language of the contract was clearly established, and Brite's performance thereunder was without dispute. It, therefore, became impossible for plaintiffs to prove a breach of contract by asserting that Brite failed to comply with its own marketing program.

Rather, the only way in which plaintiffs could establish that Brite violated the redemption provision would be to prove that the language prohibits Brite from redeeming plaintiffs' carry-over points in accordance with the stated formula. This, of course, is a question of law to be determined by the trial court. See Buehner Block Co. v. UWC Associates, wherein the court stated:

"The interpretation of a written contract may be a question of law determined by the words in the agreement."

752 P.2d at 895. The specific language of Brite's marketing program (attached hereto as Addendum A and identified at trial as Exhibit D-7) provided for the accumulation and redemption of "carry-over points" as follows:

"As you continue to exceed 1200 points per month, the increasing carry-over points may accumulate for as long as you desire. However, each increment of 5,000 carry-over points is redeemable for a check from Brite for \$100. Redeeming points in this manner does not affect your life-time point accumulation or the benefits you may eventually derive therefrom." (See Marketing Program at page 10).

In view of this language and based upon the undisputed facts before it, the trial court simply held that plaintiffs "failed to carry their burden of proving that defendant's redemption of plaintiffs' carry-over points in 1991 constituted a breach of the foregoing 1982 marketing program provisions. Plaintiffs' position that the right of redemption is exclusively theirs and cannot be exercised by defendant is not supported by the clear language of the provision itself." (Final Order of Dismissal, Record page 688).

As the court aptly observed:

"If I can look at the terms of this provision, and through its terms to me, to my satisfaction find no conflict, then that becomes a matter of law ...

If, in fact, Brite paid off 5,000 points for \$50.00, that's a breach of this provision. No doubt about it. If, in fact, it says here, however, only plaintiffs or sales representatives may redeem, and Brite redeems, there is a breach. That isn't what it said. ... It does not say may be redeemable for a check when plaintiffs ask for it from Brite for \$100.00. It speaks clearly in terms of each increment of 5,000 carry-over points is redeemable for a check from Brite for \$100.00. ...

But there is, in my estimation, nothing to indicate, for me to interpret this provision as plaintiffs are asking me to."

(Transcript of Motion for Directed Verdict, pages 56 line 18 through 57 line 23).

Plaintiffs have failed to marshal any evidence or point to any legal theory that would support their argument that they met their burden of proof in establishing that Brite had no legal right to redeem carry-over points in accordance with the 1982 marketing plan. Plaintiffs' complete failure to do so was apparent to the trial judge and resulted in the granting of Brite's motion for a directed verdict. That same deficiency clearly compels this court to uphold that ruling.

#### **POINT II**

#### **THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THE REDEMPTION PROVISIONS OF DEFENDANT'S MARKETING PLAN TO BE UNAMBIGUOUS**

The trial court held that plaintiffs failed to prove that the 1982 marketing plan's redemption provision prohibited Brite from redeeming plaintiffs' carry-over points in accordance therewith. Having thus been unsuccessful, Plaintiffs now contend that the redemption clause is ambiguous and the jury must resolve alleged factual issues relating thereto. This, however, is simply incorrect.

As noted above, there is no factual dispute concerning plaintiffs' breach of contract claim. Brite's redemption was made in precise compliance with the relevant provisions of its marketing plan. The only way for plaintiffs to prevail, is for them to prove that the 1982 marketing plan's redemption provision

actually prohibits Brite from redeeming carry-over points. In a belated effort to meet this burden, plaintiffs now contend that the redemption clause is ambiguous. They then argue that resolution of the ambiguity is a jury question. However, as the court in Buehner Block Co. v. UWC Associates, 752 P.2d 892 (Utah 1988) noted,

"Contract terms are not necessarily ambiguous simply because one party seeks to endow them with a different meaning than that relied upon by the drafter."

752 P.2d at 895.

The only evidence cited by plaintiffs in support of their allegation of ambiguity does exactly what is contemplated by the foregoing quote. That is, plaintiffs argue that because they think Brite should not be able to redeem, it is in fact true that Brite cannot. In support of this proposition, plaintiffs rely entirely upon the testimony of Cathy Palmer as set forth on page 21 of their brief. (The reference to the record in the brief incorrectly cites Palmer Deposition at page 87. The correct cite is Palmer Deposition at page 86 lines 9-15). Even this reference to the transcript, however, requires plaintiffs to use additional language to support their strained interpretation. The quote in the brief inserts the reference to "sales representatives" in addressing who can exercise the option to redeem carry-over points. Such language does not appear in the trial transcript.

Moreover, that cite to plaintiff Palmer's testimony relies on Brite's "printed material" which, in turn, refers to the 1982 marketing plan attached as the addendum to this brief and marked

as Exhibit D-7 at trial. In effect, plaintiff Palmer states nothing more than that she interprets the redemption clause of Brite's marketing program to grant her the option to redeem her carry-over points if she chose to. There are two reasons why this reference does not support the argument plaintiffs make.

First, whatever plaintiff Palmer may have desired the provision to say, it does not necessarily follow that the terms are therefore ambiguous and must be interpreted as she wishes. The trial court noted this incorrect reasoning when it stated:

"It may have been the understanding of people years ago that the world was flat and it may have been a universal understanding, but that does not make it a fact, that does not make it so."

(Transcript of Motion for Directed Verdict, Page 56, lines 15-18). The Utah Supreme Court acknowledged the faulty nature of this approach in the Buehner case cited above. Plaintiffs, however, refuse to adhere to this guidance and insist that the Court of Appeals accompany them on their misguided adventure. They do so without any factual or legal support for their position.

The second flaw in plaintiffs' approach is that reading the provision to allow sales representatives to redeem does not mean at all that Brite, therefore, cannot redeem. This reference to plaintiff Palmer's testimony serves no other purpose than to simply indicate that she interpreted the provision to give her an option to redeem. Brite has always acknowledged that not only plaintiff Palmer, but all Brite's marketing representatives had

the right to redeem carry-over points. The issue here is not whether plaintiffs can choose to redeem, but, rather, whether they met their burden of proving that Brite did not have such a redemption right. Clearly they have not. The provision is a mutual, bilateral redemption right. It is not exclusive as plaintiffs want to believe.

Plaintiffs go to much length in their brief to discuss the three possible interpretations of the redemption provision in the 1982 marketing plan. Their argument that the redemption right is solely and exclusively that of plaintiffs is no more supported by the language of the provision than an argument to the effect that the redemption right is solely and exclusively that of Brite. Rather, the only possible interpretation of the provision in the context in which it appears is that both parties can redeem.

To reach the conclusion proffered by plaintiffs requires the insertion of additional language that does not currently exist in the provision. Plaintiffs allege that the redemption right is a privilege afforded only to marketing representatives. To establish this, plaintiffs would have the court rewrite the redemption provision by replacing the existing word "however" with the new word "additionally" and inserting the words "by only you" after the word "redeemable." Thus, plaintiffs would have to rewrite the redemption provision to read as follows:

"Additionally, each increment of 5,000 carry-over points is redeemable by only you for a check from Brite for \$100.00."



Unfortunately for plaintiffs, that is not what the redemption provision provides. In reality, the provision appears immediately following the accumulation right granted to Brite's marketing representatives. As such, it appears as a qualification on that right. It begins with the term "however" and then clearly states that such carry-over points, although they may be accumulated, are subject to redemption.

Given the three alternative constructions of this provision available to the trial court, it is evident that the only conclusion which could be reached is that the provision is a mutual right of redemption that could be exercised by either party. In view of the fact that plaintiffs bear the burden of proving that defendant's redemption was specifically prohibited by this provision, it is clear that the trial court properly ruled in finding the term to be unambiguous.

### POINT III

#### **IN THE ABSENCE OF ANY AMBIGUITY, THE RULES OF CONSTRUCTION ADVANCED BY PLAINTIFFS ARE INAPPLICABLE**

Plaintiffs also contend that the trial court erred in not construing the agreements against Brite and/or in failing to apply some nebulous concept of course of dealing between the parties to arrive at the conclusion advocated by plaintiffs. Both these arguments, however, are misplaced. The Utah Supreme Court has clearly stated to the contrary in Buehner Block Co. v. UWC Associates, 752 P.2d 892 (Utah 1988) as follows:

"In view of our conclusion, appellants' reliance on Skousen v. Smith and General Mills, Inc. v. Cragun to support their argument that the construction commitment letter must be construed more strongly against its drafter, Home , is misplaced in this case. As we stated in Auto Lease Co. v. Central Mutual Insurance Co.:

'[T]hat rule has no application unless there is some genuine ambiguity or uncertainty in the language upon which reasonable minds may differ as to the meaning. That requirement is not satisfied because a party may get a different meaning by placing a forced or strained construction on it in accordance with his interest.'

(citations omitted) 752 P.2d at 896. The trial court's finding of no ambiguity precludes the application of this rule of construction.

Plaintiffs' allegation that some course of dealing between the parties should be applied in construing the redemption provision is also misplaced. First, course of dealing, industry usage and course of performance are commercial transaction terms governed by Article II of the Uniform Commercial Code. This, however, is not a commercial transaction. Thus, the application of such concepts in this situation is dubious at best.

Moreover, the application of these tools is also conditioned upon a finding of ambiguity. As stated by the court in Hector, Inc. v. United Savings & Loan Assoc., 741 P.2d 542 (Utah 1987):

"Course of dealing or industry usage and custom is admissible evidence to construe ambiguous terms of an agreement or to supply missing terms in an otherwise valid agreement, at least under certain circumstances;"

741 P.2d at 546. However, as noted in Point II above, the court properly found that the redemption provision was not ambiguous and therefore these rules for construing ambiguities do not come into play. Plaintiffs' reliance upon them is, therefore, misplaced and cannot form a basis for reversal of the trial court's ruling.

**POINT IV  
PLAINTIFFS CANNOT ASSERT THE PRINCIPLES OF  
ESTOPPEL AND WAIVER FOR THE FIRST TIME ON  
APPEAL.**

Plaintiffs' final argument is that Brite should be estopped from exercising its right to redeem carry-over points in accordance with the 1982 marketing plan. Plaintiffs, however, never raised or made this argument before the trial court. In fact, the issue was discussed on only two occasions. First, during Brite's argument of its Motion to Dismiss, the court asked Brite's counsel if it was necessary to examine the possibility of an estoppel. (See Transcript of Motion for Directed Verdict pages 14 through 16). At no time prior to this had the issue ever even been raised at all. Immediately following that inquiry, plaintiffs' counsel commenced argument in opposition to the Motion for Directed Verdict and never once addressed or mentioned the concept of estoppel.

After the completion of plaintiffs' argument in opposition to the Motion for Directed Verdict, and during rebuttal by defense counsel, the court again inquired of Brite's counsel about estoppel:

THE COURT: And there's no estoppel here regardless of how the court would look at quasi-estoppel because it hasn't been pleaded and hasn't been relied on.

MR. SUTHERLAND: That is correct, your Honor.

MR. DIBB: Your Honor, that's argument to the jury.

THE COURT: And I invited that only because that was what I was thinking about.

MR. DIBB: The complaint doesn't have to plead estoppel or waiver. I'm a plaintiff and I plead that for my client. I don't have to plead estoppel or waiver to plead -- it is not a deficiency at all now.

THE COURT: I understand

MR. DUFFIN: Let me say --

MR. SUTHERLAND: Your Honor, are we going to allow both counsel to argue the motion?

MR. DUFFIN: I was going to say it is really an ambiguity.

(Transcript of Motion for Directed Verdict page 54 lines 8-25).

Thus, plaintiffs' only response to the court's inquiry concerning estoppel the first time was complete silence. On the second occasion, plaintiffs actually objected to the fact that it had been raised and attempted to justify their failure to earlier address the issue. As stated in Matter of Estate of Justheim, 824 P.2d 432, 435 (Utah App. 1991):

"Appellants did not plead estoppel at any time, nor assert it as an issue in the pretrial order. Their estoppel theory was first mentioned in their post-trial "motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict and oral judgment of the court." Appellants' estoppel ground was incorporated by reference into their motion for a new trial. Estoppel must be pleaded or it is waived. Manger v.


Davis, 619 P.2d 687, 696 (Utah 1980) (failure to plead estoppel waives the defense under Rule 12(h) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure). Thus, we cannot say that the trial court abused its discretion or acted unreasonably in denying appellants' motion for a new trial on the ground of estoppel when that doctrine was not raised before or during the trial."

Consequently, it is clear that plaintiffs have waived these theories and cannot now pursue them in their appeal.

### CONCLUSION

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